1949

J. K. Piercey v. Civil Service Commission of Salt Lake City and Harold Fox : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In our statement of facts, in giving the page of the record where matter referred to or quoted is found, we shall use the letter "R", together with the page number, to indicate the page in the judgment roll, and the letter "T", together with the page number, to indicate the page in the transcript of the hearing held before the Civil Service Commission.

Defendant Harold Fox was employed as a member of the Fire Department of Salt Lake City, November 23, 1943 (T 205). On August 6, 1948, he submitted to plaintiff, J. K. Piercey, Chief of the Fire Department of Salt Lake City, his written resignation from the Salt Lake City Fire Department as follows (R 49): "Effective this date, I hereby tender my resignation from the Salt Lake City Fire Department." His resignation was then and there accepted by the plaintiff (T 59). Having thus resigned he turned in that same day the equipment furnished him by Salt Lake City, which was the natural thing to do after he had resigned (T 24, 147). At no time thereafter did he report for duty (T 43). On August 7, 1948, he sought legal advice and, as a result, his attorney, Calvin Rawlings, (T 16), prepared a letter addressed to plaintiff and the Board of City Commissioners stating that "I (Fox) hereby withdraw my resignation from the Salt Lake City Fire Department and request that you disregard my letter of resignation dated August 6, 1948." (R 14). This letter was signed by Fox and mailed by his attorney's secretary and was received by plaintiff August 9, 1948 (T 44).

On August 6, 1948, plaintiff sent to City Commissioner Romney, Commissioner of the Public Safety Department, a letter addressed to the Commissioner and the Board of City Commissioners that Fox "had submitted his resignation to become effective as of August 6, 1948. I respectfully request that his resignation be accepted." (Commissioner's Exhibit "A", R 47). It was always the practice in the department, and the advice

of the City Law Department, that the man resigns to the Chief, and that the Chief has the right to accept resignations. The Chief, however, reports the resignation to the City Commission. Commissioner's Exhibit "A" was sent to Commissioner Romney as a part of this regular procedure (T 75-76).

Under date of August 18, 1948, the City Recorder sent Fox a letter advising him that "at a meeting of the Board of Commissioners held August 17, 1948, your petition No. 846 tendering your resignation from the Salt Lake City Fire Department, effective August 6, 1948, was taken up and filed and I was directed to notify you that in view of the opinion of the City Attorney, a copy of which is submitted, the Board of Commissioners has at this time accepted this resignation." (R 4).

On August 19, 1948, Fox filed with the Civil Service Commission a notice of appeal to the Civil Service Commission reading as follows:

"NOTICE OF APPEAL.

"You will please take notice that I, Harold Fox, Fireman First Grade, in the Salt Lake City Fire Department, appeal to this Commission from the actions of Fire Chief, J. K. Piercey, of the Salt Lake City Fire Department, and the Salt Lake City Board of Commissioners in accepting my resignation from the Fire Department of Salt Lake City after said resignation had been withdrawn and Fire Chief Piercey and the Salt Lake City Board of Commissioners duly notified of said withdrawal.

“It is my position in this matter that the actions of Fire Chief Piercey and the Salt Lake City Board of Commissioners were an attempt to discharge me from the Salt Lake City Fire Department.”

Attached to the notice of appeal were a copy of the Recorder's letter above referred to, and a copy of the letter of the City Attorney dated August 17, 1948, advising the City Commission that in view of some doubt as to whether the City Commission or the Chief of the Fire Department has the right to accept the resignation, it was his opinion that the City Commission should accept the resignation of Mr. Fox so as to make it final and afford Mr. Fox whatever remedy he might have (R 3).

We wish to emphasize that the notice of appeal is from the actions of Chief Piercey and the City Commission in accepting Fox's resignation after said resignation was withdrawn and notice of withdrawal given. No claim is made in the notice of appeal, or in the letter withdrawing the resignation, that the resignation submitted was void or voidable by reason of any duress practiced in its procurement and hence not binding upon Mr. Fox. The notice of appeal was not served upon the plaintiff.

On August 21, 1948, after the notice of appeal had been filed with the Civil Service Commission, said Commission served a written notice upon the City Attorney for Salt Lake City and upon counsel for Fox that on August 30, 1948, it would hear arguments from respective counsel on the question of the jurisdiction of the

Civil Service Commission in the matter of said appeal (R 5). The minutes of the Commission for August 30, 1948, (R 32) show that the Commission heard arguments of counsel upon the question of jurisdiction and that a memorandum of authorities was to be submitted by the City Attorney. The matter was then taken under advisement. On September 3, 1948, the City Attorney filed a memorandum of authorities (R 6-12), maintaining the position that the Civil Service Commission was without jurisdiction to entertain the appeal.

On September 9, 1948, the Civil Service Commission served notice upon the City Attorney and plaintiff notifying them that the Commission did, by resolution dated September 8, 1948, assume jurisdiction of the appeal of Harold Fox from *the removal by Chief of the Fire Department Piercey* and ordered the Chief within ten days after service to file with the Civil Service Commission and serve upon Harold Fox his complaint of removal (R 15). A copy of the notice of appeal was attached to this notice. It will be noticed that the assumption of jurisdiction related only to the so-called removal by the Chief of the Fire Department Piercey of Mr. Fox from the Fire Department and made no reference whatever to any action taken by the City Commission in accepting Fox's resignation. Nor is any mention made by the Civil Service Commission of any resignation or that it assumed jurisdiction to pass upon the validity of the resignation submitted by Mr. Fox.

Chief Piercey responded to said order to the effect that Fox had never been removed from the Fire De-

partment except by his own resignation therefrom in writing, as hereinabove set out, and for that reason the Chief had no specifications of complaint of removal to make in said matter. (R 16).

Mr. Fox answered the Chief's response, admitting the resignation, and for the first time asserted that such resignation was a nullity as it was obtained by duress and threats of blasting Fox in the newspapers with unfavorable publicity (R 17-A). He further alleged that he withdrew his resignation prior to its acceptance by the Board of City Commissioners or by any other body or person authorized to accept it, setting out the letter of withdrawal hereinbefore quoted. He further asserted that the action of the City Commission in notifying him of their acceptance of the void and withdrawn resignation in effect was an attempted discharge, and was intended as such.

The Civil Service Commission set the matter for hearing November 22, 1948, at which time evidence, both oral and written, was taken. This testimony is contained in the transcript of testimony filed herein. Before any evidence was taken at the hearing plaintiff objected to the proceeding upon the ground that there is no jurisdiction in the Civil Service Commission to hear the appeal. This objection was stated in full. The objection was overruled by the Commission, (R 1-8) and plaintiff excepted to such ruling and thereupon the Commission directed Mr. Fox to proceed with his testimony. At the conclusion of Fox's evidence, and after he had rested, plaintiff made a motion that the appeal be dismissed

upon the ground that the Civil Service Commission had no jurisdiction to entertain the appeal and that the evidence did not show any overreaching as would vitiate the resignation tendered by Fox. This motion was denied. (R 26).

On December 20, 1948, the Commission made and entered findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decree (R 23-28). We shall not attempt here to make a statement of the testimony taken at the hearing or of the findings of fact made by the Commission. Such statement will be made later in connection with our argument on points involving the testimony and the findings of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

The plaintiff, J. K. Piercey, contends:

1. That said Commission has assumed to exercise the powers of a court of equity to nullify the resignation of defendant Harold Fox upon the ground of duress, which powers are not by law or otherwise vested in said Commission.

2. That said Commission has assumed jurisdiction to adjudicate a matter that is not by law vested in said Commission to adjudicate, namely, whether the resignation submitted by defendant, Harold Fox, as hereinabove shown, was void or voidable or effective as of the date it was given and accepted by plaintiff.

3. That said Commission is by law vested with jurisdiction to entertain and adjudicate only appeals made by a member of the Civil Service from an order of discharge issued by the head of the department; that there is no finding or conclusion of law by said Commission that any order of discharge was ever finally issued or that an appeal was made from an order of discharge, or that the defendant, Harold Fox, was discharged, and without such finding or conclusion, supported by sufficient evidence, there appears upon the face of the proceedings a want of jurisdiction in the said Commission to adjudicate any issue involved in the proceedings attempted to be taken in an appeal to said Commission. That on the contrary the findings of fact and conclusions of law made by the Commission show that the appeal was not taken from an order of discharge, nor was it based upon an order of discharge but that the said appeal was taken from the action of the plaintiff in accepting the resignation of defendant, Harold Fox.

4. That in entertaining the appeal of defendant, Harold Fox, and in rendering its judgment thereon, the Civil Service Commission has wholly disregarded and completely nullified its own rules and regulations duly adopted by it relating to the matter of discharge and taking an appeal therefrom and has thereby exceeded its jurisdiction in entertaining said appeal and in rendering its judgment therein.

5. That the said Civil Service Commission has attempted to determine matters not legally before it for

consideration, and as to which it had no jurisdiction to determine, to-wit:

(a) Whether the said Harold Fox resigned under duress.

(b) Whether the resignation of Harold Fox was accepted before or after he attempted to withdraw the same.

(c) Who is the proper officer or body to accept the resignation of Harold Fox as a member of the Fire Department?

6. That the findings of fact of said Commission show on their face that there was in fact no such over-reaching perpetrated by Chief J. K. Piercey upon defendant, Harold Fox, as could legally be held to amount to duress or coercion, or that could or would destroy or control the free volition of said Harold Fox in submitting his resignation, or that would render his resignation as given involuntary and for that reason legally void or voidable.

7. That the findings of fact of said Commission show on their face that the resignation submitted by Harold Fox was not involuntary and was not induced or procured by the exercise of coercion or duress practiced upon Harold Fox by plaintiff or any one else.

8. That said Commission did not have jurisdiction to entertain and adjudicate said appeal, as the appeal was not taken within the time prescribed by law.

9. That the findings of fact of the Civil Service Commission do not support its conclusions of law or judgment.

10. That the uncontradicted evidence does not support the findings of fact or the conclusions of law or the judgment made herein by the Civil Service Commission.

11. That the Civil Service Commission arbitrarily or capriciously disregarded the uncontradicted evidence in making its findings of fact, its conclusions of law and its judgment herein.

12. That the findings of fact and conclusions of the Civil Service Commission that the resignation of Harold Fox was not accepted by Chief Piercey until after the receipt of the letter of withdrawal is wholly unsupported by and is contrary to the undisputed evidence and is wholly capricious and arbitrary.

13. That the conclusions of the Civil Service Commission that the letter or notice withdrawing Harold Fox's resignation voided his resignation is wholly unsupported by and is contrary to the undisputed evidence and is wholly capricious and arbitrary, and said conclusion is likewise contrary to law.

14. That the conclusions of law and decree of the Civil Service Commission herein are based upon wholly contradictory premises, to-wit, one that the resignation of the defendant, Harold Fox, was such a resignation as could be acted upon and accepted but was withdrawn before acceptance, and the other, that his resignation

was procured by duress and coercion and was therefore void or voidable and never binding upon him and needed no notice of withdrawal to be repudiated.

ARGUMENT

I.

DID THE CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION HAVE JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AND DETERMINE THE APPEAL TO IT BY DEFENDANT FOX?

A

Under this head we assert, first, that the Civil Service Commission had no right or power to assume jurisdiction of the appeal of Mr. Fox and to render judgment therein that his resignation be voided and he be restored to his employment in the Fire Department. This phase is covered by assignments of error one to five, inclusive.

The Civil Service Commission is a subordinate tribunal created by statute and can exercise only such powers as are given it by statute. "It is fundamental that jurisdiction must affirmatively appear on the face of the proceedings, and that no presumption will be indulged in favor of it, as is the case of a court of general jurisdiction." 2 McQuillan, Mun. Corps., Section 590, page 484.

In *Garvin vs. Chambers*, Cal., 232 P. 696, the court, speaking of the Civil Service Commission, says:

“The defendant board in the instant case is an inferior board or tribunal of limited jurisdiction exercising judicial functions. Its jurisdiction is limited to the determination of those questions which it is authorized to decide under the provisions of the charter of the city of Oakland. In other words, it has jurisdiction to proceed only when facts appear in a proceeding before it which show that it has jurisdiction.

“The jurisdiction of the civil service board, as previously indicated, is special and limited by the charter of the city of Oakland to the determination of the correctness of the order of discharge of the petitioner. The power of the board being special and limited, no legal presumptions or intendments may be indulged to uphold its order. *Petersen v. Civil Service Board* (Cal. App.) 227 P. 238. Facts must appear on the face of the record sufficient to sustain a finding that the petitioner was guilty as charged, otherwise the order of the defendant board sustaining the discharge was in excess of the power conferred upon the board, without the limits of its special jurisdiction, and not in the regular pursuit of its authority as contemplated by sections 1068 and 1074 of the Code of Civil Procedure.”

The Court further says:

“The fact that the authority of the board had been invoked by the taking of the appeal would not deprive the petitioner of the right to attack the final action of the board of transcending its powers.”

The only provision in the statutes of this state investing the Civil Service Commission with the power to

exercise judicial functions is Section 15-9-21, U.C.A. 1943. This section reads as follows:

“All persons in the classified civil service may be removed from office or employment by the head of the department for misconduct, incompetency or failure to perform his duties or failure to observe properly the rules of the department, but subject to appeal by the aggrieved party to the civil service commission. Any person discharged may within five days from the issuing by the head of the department of the order discharging him appeal therefrom to the civil service commission, which shall fully hear and determine the matter. The discharged person shall be entitled to appear in person and to have counsel and a public hearing. The finding and decision of the civil service commission upon such hearing shall be certified to the head of the department from whose order the appeal is taken, and shall be final, and shall forthwith be enforced and followed by him.”

It is apparent from the language of this section that the words “removed from office or employment,” in the first part of the section, are synonymous with the word “discharged” used in the rest of the section. This court in *Vetterli vs. Civil Service Commission*, 106 Utah 83, 145 P. 2d 792, said:

“That ‘remove from office’ and ‘discharge’ are synonomous expressions as used in our statute, is clear from a cursory reading thereof. The power to ‘remove from office’ conferred upon the head of a department means not a temporary

but a permanent removal from office or discharge.”

On the question of the limited powers of the Civil Service Commission, the court has this to say:

“That for infractions of the rules of conduct the department head might suspend a person for fifteen days, as a means of effecting discipline in his department. That in such sphere of discipline, he is in nowise subject to the supervision of the commission. That in aggravated cases and in cases where the disciplinary measures given exclusively to the department head prove inefficacious, the power to discharge is conferred; but because of the severity of the penalty, as well as because of the fact that it involves a permanent severance from the department, thus affecting the make-up of the personnel, over whose appointment the commission is given a limited control, a right to appeal to the commission is granted to the discharged officer or employee. The civil service commission is made the ultimate authority to determine whether the discharge should or should not stand. To this end the commission is given the authority and duty to ‘fully hear and determine the matter.’ That is, it is to accord a full hearing to the appellant and to the department head as to the truth or falsity of the charges made, and thereupon to determine whether to affirm or to set aside the order made. We do not find in our statute any phrase which grants the same jurisdiction on appeal as is conferred where the power on appeal is to ‘affirm, modify or reverse,’—an expression usually if not universally employed where such authority is actually conferred. The substitution of suspension for six

months without pay, in lieu of dismissal, was beyond the power of the commission.”

In speaking of a police officer, whose status under the statute is identical with that of a fireman, this court said in *Roe vs. Lundstrom*, 89 Utah 520, 57 P. 2d 1128:

“A police officer is responsible only to the head of his department, to whom has been given the power of appointment and removal from office. R. S. Utah 1933, 15-9-9 and 15-9-21.”

From the foregoing it is evident, first, that the Civil Service employee has a right to appeal to the Civil Service Commission only from an order of discharge issued by the head of the department, the plaintiff Chief Piercey in this case; and, second, that the Civil Service Commission can hear and determine only appeals from an order of discharge. The entire Civil Service statute is silent on the matter of resignation. It was not intended that the Civil Service Commission should have a right to review the reasons which might prompt an employee to resign, as his resignation is a result of his own act. The right of appeal is restricted by the very language of the section above quoted to a review of the act of the Chief of the department in discharging the employee, to determine whether the discharge should or should not stand.

The record now before this court shows conclusively on its face that the Civil Service Commission did not have before it an appeal from an order of discharge, and further that it did not inquire into or determine the

merits of a discharge. The notice of appeal itself states that “I, Harold Fox, . . . appeal to this Commission from the actions of Fire Chief J. K. Piercey, . . . and the Salt Lake City Board of Commissioners in *accepting my resignation from the Fire Department* . . . after my resignation had been withdrawn” and notice thereof duly given (R 1). We ask, where, under the language of Section 15-9-21, above quoted, is there any basis for such an appeal or any jurisdiction vested in the Civil Service Commission to entertain and determine such appeal?

The next step in these proceedings was taken when the Civil Service Commission “assumed” jurisdiction of the appeal pursuant to a resolution passed at one of its meetings, and served notice to that effect upon the plaintiff and ordered him to file his complaint of removal (R 15), meaning, of course, under the language of the statute, his reasons for discharging Fox. Notwithstanding the appeal was from the actions of the Chief and the City Commissioners in accepting Fox’s resignation, the Civil Service Commission attempted to proceed as if there had been a discharge, no doubt to give color to its “assumed” jurisdiction. This is evidenced by the fact that in the notice to the plaintiff that the Commission had assumed jurisdiction the Commission was careful to say that it assumed jurisdiction of the appeal of Mr. Fox only from the removal by the Chief of the Fire Department Piercey and said nothing at all about the action of the City Commissioners in accepting Fox’s resignation, although the notice of appeal

stated it was taken from that action as well as from the Chief's action in accepting the resignation. Apparently, the Civil Service Commission was aware that under the law the City Commissioners have no power to remove a civil service employee, that power being vested exclusively in the head of the department. So it affirmatively appears that in entertaining the appeal and assuming jurisdiction the defendant Commission excluded from consideration anything the City Commissioners did, relying solely upon what plaintiff, as head of the department, did.

The plaintiff filed a response to the order simply stating that Fox had not been removed from his employment except by resigning therefrom and so plaintiff had no specifications of complaint of removal to make (R 16). Fox answered setting up that his resignation was obtained under duress and had been withdrawn prior to its acceptance (R 17-A). When the hearing was held the Commission did not call upon plaintiff to proceed and show his reasons for removing Fox. Instead, the Commission declared that the burden was on Fox to sustain his claim of duress and withdrawal before acceptance and required him to be the first to proceed (T 8).

In its findings of fact the Civil Service Commission does not find that Fox was discharged and that the reasons for discharge were insufficient and hence Fox was entitled to reinstatement. The Commission finds that Fox submitted a letter of resignation but such action was involuntarily given "while he was frightened and

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