1949

# J. K. Piercey v. Civil Service Commission of Salt Lake City and Harold Fox :Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

**The Civil Service Commission is empowered by law with the right to entertain appeals from removal through resignation.**

### POINT II.

**There is substantial evidence in the record which supports the findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree.**

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

**The Civil Service Commission is empowered by law with the right to entertain appeals from removal through resignation.**

The jurisdiction of the Civil Service Commission is set forth in the Utah Code Annotated, 1943, under several sections. Defendants consider Sections 15-9-9; 15-9-10;

15-9-14; 15-9-16, and 15-9-21, as important in showing the legislative intention. The Civil Service Commission must have the power to protect the civil servants from removal from office without cause. These various sections will be discussed separately.

Section 15-9-9 provides in part as follows:

“The head of each of the police and fire department \* \* \* shall by and with the advice and consent of the board of city commissioners and subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission \* \* \* appoint \* \* \* members \* \* \* in his department.”

Section 15-9-10 provides in part as follows:

“ \* \* \* No appointment to any place of employment in such departments shall be made, except according to law and under the rules and regulations of the Civil Service Commission \* \* \* .”

It is quite apparent from these two sections, the power to appoint is vested in the chief only with the *advice and consent of the city commission and then subject to the rules of the Civil Service Commission.*

Section 15-9-14 vested in the Civil Service Commission the right to make the rules to carry the law into effect.

“The Civil Service Commission shall make all necessary rules and regulations to carry out the purpose of this article *and for* \* \* \* appointment and promotions.”

The legislature even went further and said the chief could appoint only those selected and certified by the Civil Service Commission:

Section 15-9-16:

“In all cases the appointing power shall notify the Civil Service Commission of each separate position to be filled and shall fill such places by appointment of one of the persons certified by the commission therefor. Such appointments shall be on probation, and *of a character* and for a period to be prescribed by the Civil Service Commission.”

The department head's power to appoint is very limited surrounded with many restrictions, including the Rules of the Civil Service Commission.

Defendants might well admit the truth of the proposition argued by the plaintiff under his brief, Section IV, that the appointing power is the power which must accept a resignation. No contention that the resignation of Fox could be effective prior to acceptance by the proper authority could possibly stand. In this regard defendants refer the court to *Tooele County v. De La Mare et al*, 90 Utah 46, 59 P. (2d) 1155, and *Edwards v. United States*, 103 U. S. 471, 26 L. Ed. 314, 95 A.L.R. 215. The only question remaining is, who is the proper authority to accept the resignation of a fireman.

The Chief being required to get the consent of the City Commission to employ, it follows that he must obtain the consent of that body to discharge or accept a resignation, and both the City Commission and the

department head must act in accordance with the rules of the Civil Service Commission.

Piercey was aware of the fact that he must obtain the consent of the City Commission, for he mailed to them the letter of resignation with a letter of transmittal dated August 6th, which read: "I respectfully request that his resignation be accepted." Chief Piercey now contradicts the statements he made in the letter of transmittal. He says that he had already accepted Fox's resignation and action by the City Commission was unnecessary. Here defendants believe Piercey's actions speak louder than his testimony at the hearing.

Plaintiff's arguments that the Civil Service Commission was without jurisdiction to hear the appeal of Fox seems to rest on two propositions:

(a) The law does not empower the commission to review the removal of civil servants except where they are discharged.

(b) There is no discharge here because the statute governing discharge was not complied with. Definite provision is made for removal of a Civil Service employee by Section 15-9-21:

*"All persons in the classified Civil Service may be removed from office or employment, by the head of the department, for misconduct, incompetency or failure to his duties or failure to observe properly the rules of the department, but subject to appeal by the aggrieved party to the Civil Service Commission. Any person discharged*

may within five (5) days *from the issuing by the head of the department of the order discharging him appeal* therefrom to the Civil Service Commission, who shall fully hear and determine the matter.

“The findings and decision of the Civil Service Commission, upon such hearing, shall be certified to the head of the department, *from whose order the appeal is taken*, and shall be final and shall forthwith be enforced and followed by him.”

It will be noted that the removal may be by the head of the department but subject to *the right of appeal to the Civil Service Commission, who shall hear and fully determine the matter*. The Chief does not possess the full right to effect the removal of an employee from civil service, either by discharge or otherwise. The Civil Service Commission under the above quoted provisions has the right and duty to hear appeals from removals from civil service office. It is true where the removal takes the form of a discharge, the statute is more specific about the time when appeal must be taken. This, however, cannot logically be construed that only discharges are appealable.

A very enlightening decision by this court is *Thompson v. Civil Service Commission*, 103 Utah 162, 134 P. (2d) 188, 1943. It illustrates clearly a type of removal from office which is not a discharge. Thompson, at the request of the City Commission, resigned his office as Chief of the Fire Department. The question then arose, was Thompson *removed* for cause. The case does not specifically construe the word “removed” as that word

is used in 15-9-21, but it does use “removed” to describe the manner that Thompson was deprived of his *office*.

Plaintiff points to the language of *Vetterli v. Civil Service Commission*, 106 Utah 83, 145 P. (2d) 792, which states that “removal” and “discharge” are synonymous as proving that the only removal there can be appeal from is a discharge. A careful examination of Justice McDonough’s language completely dispels any such inference. The only manner in which “remove” and “discharge” are held to be synonymous is that both words mean a permanent severance from office rather than a temporary suspension from duty.

In the *Thompson* case the court seemed to anticipate the dispute now before it. In the opinion it is stated:

“ \* \* \* We do not hold that in a proper case the Civil Service Commission may not go behind the resignation to the real facts as to the retirement from office, but it cannot go beyond the actual facts as to what the City Commission actually did, and why it did so.” (134 P. 2d 188, 193)

There are no cases which directly pass on the precise point now before this court. However, in *Kidd v. State Civil Service Commission*, 13 Cal. App. (2d) 653, 57 P. (2d) 569, the problem presented to the Civil Service Commission was similar to the present case. Kidd had resigned and then withdrew his resignation. His immediate superior refused to allow him to resume his duties. He appealed to the Civil Service Commission. A hearing was granted, the whole matter gone into and

the charges of inefficiency brought by the department head, sustained. Kidd's removal from office was upheld. The court, on appeal, held that the resignation was obtained by coercion and duress. *Kidd v. State Civil Service Commission* (1936 Cal. App.) 55 P. (2d) 245. But when the fact that the charges of inefficiency had been sustained was called to the court's attention they affirmed and ignored the irregularity of procedure.

Chief Piercey did not see fit to present to the Civil Service Commission the case against Fox on its merits, but instead stated that he had no charges to prefer. His purpose was to defeat Fox's right of appeal. Apparently he feels that by obtaining a resignation, regardless of the method used, he can exercise an arbitrary power of dismissal over the Civil Service personnel in his department and thus defeat the purposes of the Civil Service Commission.

It seems obvious that the department heads may, through the resignation loophole, remove whomever they wish without cause, and the spoils system can again be established. The threat of publicity is not the only coercion the Chief could use. He can, within his department, make life extremely miserable for an employee. His power to harass and annoy employees is unlimited. When they finally break under the pressure and resign, then, if plaintiff is correct, they are barred from even seeking the protection of the one body which the law creates to protect them from arbitrary and capricious removal from *office*.

Plaintiff contends further that there is no appeal because the formalities of discharge were not complied with. He seeks to use his own failure to discharge to defeat the rights of defendant Fox to appeal. The absurdity of this contention seems obvious, by failing to make a discharge in writing a department head could defeat every removed employee's right to appeal.

The Commission, if it is to provide protection for our civil servants, must have the necessary power to prevent the use of such an obvious subterfuge. An enlightening opinion on the question of compliance with the formal requirements of a discharge is *Bodmer v. Police Mutual Aid Association*, 94 Utah 450, 78 P. (2d) 640. This court was not willing to allow a police officer to benefit from a deficient compliance with Section 15-9-21 and the Fire Chief's position is deserving of much less consideration where he seeks to take advantage of his own conduct in withdrawing the discharge. The only way that a civil servant can get his removal from office before the Civil Service Commission for review is through an appeal. The Commission, it was held in *Thompson v. Civil Service Comm.*, 103 U. 162, 134 P. (2d) 188, 195, had no power to review such matters without appeal.

Plaintiff argues that a mere board of three laymen should not be allowed to pass upon such technical matters as presented here because there is a judicial question to be determined. The present Civil Service Commission is composed of an outstanding lawyer, a former District

Court Judge, and only a single mind not trained in our judicial manner of thinking. But even if all the members of the board were only laymen, the Legislature has determined that the Commission, be it laymen or lawyers, "shall fully hear and determine the matter." Having these functions we must recognize that the Commission is empowered with certain judicial functions. *Souder v. City of Philadelphia, et al.*.....Pa....., 156 Atl. 245, 10 Am. Jur. Section 14.

The Commission is specifically a reviewing body and as such must exercise judicial powers. This court recognized this fact in the *Bodner, Thompson* and *Vetterli* cases. In the *Vetterli* case this court held that the review of a Civil Service Commission was limited to determining whether the Commission "acted arbitrarily or capriciously." *Vetterli v. Civil Service Commission of Salt Lake City*, 106 U. 83, 145 P. (2d) 792, 797.

It is respectfully submitted that the Civil Service Commission is empowered to entertain an appeal from a removal from office even though a resignation is obtained by the department head and that the appeal of Fireman Fox was lawfully and properly before the Commission for review.

## POINT II.

**There is substantial evidence in the record which supports the findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree.**

The findings of Fact are not only fully supported by Fireman Fox's testimony, but they find support in all the testimony.

Chief Piercey himself admitted that he told Fox it would be a lot easier for him to find employment if he would resign. All the Assistant Chiefs were sure that the Chief explained the "consequences" of a discharge to Fox. They are somewhat vague when it comes to just what those consequences were, but they did involve publicity and job opportunities. It was not the threat of discharge which the Commission found compelled Fox to resign, it was the publicity and the effect on employment opportunities which Piercey stated would accompany a discharge which moved Fox. Fox knew that Piercey was in a position to carry out his threats. The court need only look at plaintiff's Exhibit "B" to see how the publicity threat was to be accomplished.

Plaintiff complains in his brief about the failure of the Commission to find that Chief Piercey made a particular statement which is alleged produced the fear which motivated the action of Fox. The law does not require other than a finding of the ultimate facts upon which the conclusions and decree are based. *Jonkele v. Texas Co.*, 88 U. 325, 54 P. (2d) 425.

The pleading of the Fire Department set up the resignation of Fox as a defense to his appeal. Fox answered that the resignation had been withdrawn before acted upon by the proper authority and that it was obtained by coercion and duress. The Commission found as facts that the withdrawal of the resignation was effected before acted upon by the City Commission and that the resignation was given involuntarily and obtained through the influence of fear, coercion and duress. Upon

these findings of fact the Commission ordered the reinstatement of Fox.

Defendants submit that there were findings made on all the material issues made by the pleadings and that those findings are supported by substantial evidence. As regards the time of the withdrawal of his resignation and its disposition by the plaintiff and the City Commission the facts are completely undisputed. The dispute is over whether or not the resignation was obtained by duress and coercion. On this dispute the defendant, Fox, testified clearly and definitely and his testimony, even if it were not substantiated and verified by the other testimony, would be substantial evidence from which the Commission could make the findings it made.

## CONCLUSION

Defendants respectfully submit that the Civil Service Commission has the right and duty to hear appeals from removals based on resignations and that its actions in the present case were not arbitrary or capricious, but based on substantial evidence and the decision of the Commission, should be affirmed.